
Goodhue County Planning Commission

Government Center - Board Room

509 West 5th St, Red Wing MN 55066

Virtual Meeting Notice

Virtual Meeting Notice: The Goodhue County Planning Advisory Commission will be 

conducting a meeting on March 21, 2022 at 6:00 p.m. Due to concerns surrounding the 

spread of COVID-19, the meeting and all public hearings will be conducted by telephone or 

other electronic means. 

The public may monitor the meeting from a remote site by logging into 

https://meet.goto.com/550416949 or calling  1 -866-899-4679 beginning at 5:50 PM or any 

time during the meeting.  Access Code: 550 -416-949 

Public Comments: Interested persons may submit comments by phone, in writing, or via 

email until noon on Monday, March 21, 2022. To submit your comments please email 

them to samantha.pierret@co.goodhue.mn.us or mail them to the Land Use Management 

Department at 509 West 5th Street, Red Wing, MN 55066. Comments received by this 

deadline will be read into the record during the public hearing for that item, including name 

and address.

6:00 PM Call Meeting To Order

Approval Of Current Agenda

Approval Of Previous Month's Meeting Minutes

February 14, 2022 PAC Meeting Minutes

MINUTES_DRAFT_FEBRUARYPACMEETING_2022.PDF

Conflict/Disclosure Of Interests

TABLED: CUP Request To Establish An Animal Unit Feedlot Greater Than 500 Animal Units 
Outside Of A Farmyard And A Liquid Manure Storage Basin Exceeding 500,000 Gallons

Request for CUP, submitted by Kent Billman (Applicant) on behalf of Billman Farms LLC 

(Owners), to establish a hog finishing Feedlot for up to 2,400 head (720 Animal Units) 

outside of a Farmyard and construction of an animal waste storage pit exceeding 500,000 

gallons. Parcel 40.015.0400. TBD 150th AVE Pine Island, MN 55963. Part of the NW ¼ of 

the NW ¼ of Section 15 TWP 109 Range 16 in Roscoe Township. A -1 Zoned District.

PACPACKET_BILLMAN_TABLED.PDF

Public Hearings:

PUBLIC HEARING: IUP Request For A Utility-Scale Solar Energy System (SES)

Request submitted by Sturgeon Garden LLC (Brendan Dillon, Applicant) and Seth & 

Lisa Thomforde (Owners) for a Utility-Scale Photovoltaic Ground 1-Megawatt Solar 

Energy System (SES) occupying approximately 8.0-acres. Parcel 33.026.0600. TBD 

230th AVE Goodhue, MN 55027. The S ½ of the SE ¼ of Section 26 TWP 111 Range 

15 in Goodhue Township. A-1 Zoned District. 

PACPACKET_STURGEONGARDENLLC_REDACTED.PDF

PUBLIC HEARING: “Gesme Second Addition” Preliminary And Final Plat Review

Request submitted by David Rapp (Authorized Agent/Surveyor) on behalf of Keith and 

Roger Gesme (Owners) for Preliminary and Final Plat review of the proposed Gesme 

Second Addition Plat comprising approximately 547.5-acres. Parcels 28.006.0100, 

28.006.2000, 28.005.0900, 28.125.0010, 28.005.1000, 28.005.1400, 28.008.0400, and 

28.008.0500. 28170 HWY 20 BLVD Cannon Falls, MN 55009. Part of the E ½ of 

Section 06 and Part of the W ½ of Section 05 and Part of the NW ¼ of Section 08 all in 

Township 112 Range 17 Cannon Falls Township.  A -3 Zoned District.  

PACPACKET_GESME.PDF

PUBLIC HEARING: Conservation Subdivision Plat (Hinrichs)

Request submitted by Laurie Hinrichs (owner) for Preliminary and Final Plat approval of 

the proposed “Hinrichs Subdivision” to rezone 40.0 acres and create a two lot 

Conservation Subdivision District on the property currently zoned A-1 (Agricultural 

Protection District). Parcel 39.008.2601. TBD 195th AVE Zumbrota, MN 55992. Part of 

the E 1/2 of the SW ¼ of Section 08 TWP 109 Range 15 in Pine Island Township. 

PACPACKET_HINRICHS.PDF

Other-Discussion

Adjourn

Anyone interested is invited to attend. Agenda items may be subject to change. 

Goodhue County Land Use Management

w  Goodhue County Government Center w  509 West Fifth Street w  Red Wing w  Minnesota w  55066 w

w  Building w Planning w  Zoning w  Telephone: 651/385 -3104 w Fax: 651/385 -3106 w

1.

Documents:

Documents:

1.

Documents:

2.

Documents:

3.

Documents:

http://mn-goodhuecounty.civicplus.com/


Goodhue County Planning Commission

Government Center - Board Room

509 West 5th St, Red Wing MN 55066

Virtual Meeting Notice

Virtual Meeting Notice: The Goodhue County Planning Advisory Commission will be 

conducting a meeting on March 21, 2022 at 6:00 p.m. Due to concerns surrounding the 

spread of COVID-19, the meeting and all public hearings will be conducted by telephone or 

other electronic means. 

The public may monitor the meeting from a remote site by logging into 

https://meet.goto.com/550416949 or calling  1 -866-899-4679 beginning at 5:50 PM or any 

time during the meeting.  Access Code: 550 -416-949 

Public Comments: Interested persons may submit comments by phone, in writing, or via 

email until noon on Monday, March 21, 2022. To submit your comments please email 

them to samantha.pierret@co.goodhue.mn.us or mail them to the Land Use Management 

Department at 509 West 5th Street, Red Wing, MN 55066. Comments received by this 

deadline will be read into the record during the public hearing for that item, including name 

and address.

6:00 PM Call Meeting To Order

Approval Of Current Agenda

Approval Of Previous Month's Meeting Minutes

February 14, 2022 PAC Meeting Minutes

MINUTES_DRAFT_FEBRUARYPACMEETING_2022.PDF

Conflict/Disclosure Of Interests

TABLED: CUP Request To Establish An Animal Unit Feedlot Greater Than 500 Animal Units 
Outside Of A Farmyard And A Liquid Manure Storage Basin Exceeding 500,000 Gallons

Request for CUP, submitted by Kent Billman (Applicant) on behalf of Billman Farms LLC 

(Owners), to establish a hog finishing Feedlot for up to 2,400 head (720 Animal Units) 

outside of a Farmyard and construction of an animal waste storage pit exceeding 500,000 

gallons. Parcel 40.015.0400. TBD 150th AVE Pine Island, MN 55963. Part of the NW ¼ of 

the NW ¼ of Section 15 TWP 109 Range 16 in Roscoe Township. A -1 Zoned District.

PACPACKET_BILLMAN_TABLED.PDF

Public Hearings:

PUBLIC HEARING: IUP Request For A Utility-Scale Solar Energy System (SES)

Request submitted by Sturgeon Garden LLC (Brendan Dillon, Applicant) and Seth & 

Lisa Thomforde (Owners) for a Utility-Scale Photovoltaic Ground 1-Megawatt Solar 

Energy System (SES) occupying approximately 8.0-acres. Parcel 33.026.0600. TBD 

230th AVE Goodhue, MN 55027. The S ½ of the SE ¼ of Section 26 TWP 111 Range 

15 in Goodhue Township. A-1 Zoned District. 

PACPACKET_STURGEONGARDENLLC_REDACTED.PDF

PUBLIC HEARING: “Gesme Second Addition” Preliminary And Final Plat Review

Request submitted by David Rapp (Authorized Agent/Surveyor) on behalf of Keith and 

Roger Gesme (Owners) for Preliminary and Final Plat review of the proposed Gesme 

Second Addition Plat comprising approximately 547.5-acres. Parcels 28.006.0100, 

28.006.2000, 28.005.0900, 28.125.0010, 28.005.1000, 28.005.1400, 28.008.0400, and 

28.008.0500. 28170 HWY 20 BLVD Cannon Falls, MN 55009. Part of the E ½ of 

Section 06 and Part of the W ½ of Section 05 and Part of the NW ¼ of Section 08 all in 

Township 112 Range 17 Cannon Falls Township.  A -3 Zoned District.  

PACPACKET_GESME.PDF

PUBLIC HEARING: Conservation Subdivision Plat (Hinrichs)

Request submitted by Laurie Hinrichs (owner) for Preliminary and Final Plat approval of 

the proposed “Hinrichs Subdivision” to rezone 40.0 acres and create a two lot 

Conservation Subdivision District on the property currently zoned A-1 (Agricultural 

Protection District). Parcel 39.008.2601. TBD 195th AVE Zumbrota, MN 55992. Part of 

the E 1/2 of the SW ¼ of Section 08 TWP 109 Range 15 in Pine Island Township. 

PACPACKET_HINRICHS.PDF

Other-Discussion

Adjourn

Anyone interested is invited to attend. Agenda items may be subject to change. 

Goodhue County Land Use Management

w  Goodhue County Government Center w  509 West Fifth Street w  Red Wing w  Minnesota w  55066 w

w  Building w Planning w  Zoning w  Telephone: 651/385 -3104 w Fax: 651/385 -3106 w

1.

Documents:

Documents:

1.

Documents:

2.

Documents:

3.

Documents:



Goodhue County Planning Commission

Government Center - Board Room

509 West 5th St, Red Wing MN 55066

Virtual Meeting Notice

Virtual Meeting Notice: The Goodhue County Planning Advisory Commission will be 

conducting a meeting on March 21, 2022 at 6:00 p.m. Due to concerns surrounding the 

spread of COVID-19, the meeting and all public hearings will be conducted by telephone or 

other electronic means. 

The public may monitor the meeting from a remote site by logging into 

https://meet.goto.com/550416949 or calling  1 -866-899-4679 beginning at 5:50 PM or any 

time during the meeting.  Access Code: 550 -416-949 

Public Comments: Interested persons may submit comments by phone, in writing, or via 

email until noon on Monday, March 21, 2022. To submit your comments please email 

them to samantha.pierret@co.goodhue.mn.us or mail them to the Land Use Management 

Department at 509 West 5th Street, Red Wing, MN 55066. Comments received by this 

deadline will be read into the record during the public hearing for that item, including name 

and address.

6:00 PM Call Meeting To Order

Approval Of Current Agenda

Approval Of Previous Month's Meeting Minutes

February 14, 2022 PAC Meeting Minutes

MINUTES_DRAFT_FEBRUARYPACMEETING_2022.PDF

Conflict/Disclosure Of Interests

TABLED: CUP Request To Establish An Animal Unit Feedlot Greater Than 500 Animal Units 
Outside Of A Farmyard And A Liquid Manure Storage Basin Exceeding 500,000 Gallons

Request for CUP, submitted by Kent Billman (Applicant) on behalf of Billman Farms LLC 

(Owners), to establish a hog finishing Feedlot for up to 2,400 head (720 Animal Units) 

outside of a Farmyard and construction of an animal waste storage pit exceeding 500,000 

gallons. Parcel 40.015.0400. TBD 150th AVE Pine Island, MN 55963. Part of the NW ¼ of 

the NW ¼ of Section 15 TWP 109 Range 16 in Roscoe Township. A -1 Zoned District.

PACPACKET_BILLMAN_TABLED.PDF

Public Hearings:

PUBLIC HEARING: IUP Request For A Utility-Scale Solar Energy System (SES)

Request submitted by Sturgeon Garden LLC (Brendan Dillon, Applicant) and Seth & 

Lisa Thomforde (Owners) for a Utility-Scale Photovoltaic Ground 1-Megawatt Solar 

Energy System (SES) occupying approximately 8.0-acres. Parcel 33.026.0600. TBD 

230th AVE Goodhue, MN 55027. The S ½ of the SE ¼ of Section 26 TWP 111 Range 

15 in Goodhue Township. A-1 Zoned District. 

PACPACKET_STURGEONGARDENLLC_REDACTED.PDF

PUBLIC HEARING: “Gesme Second Addition” Preliminary And Final Plat Review

Request submitted by David Rapp (Authorized Agent/Surveyor) on behalf of Keith and 

Roger Gesme (Owners) for Preliminary and Final Plat review of the proposed Gesme 

Second Addition Plat comprising approximately 547.5-acres. Parcels 28.006.0100, 

28.006.2000, 28.005.0900, 28.125.0010, 28.005.1000, 28.005.1400, 28.008.0400, and 

28.008.0500. 28170 HWY 20 BLVD Cannon Falls, MN 55009. Part of the E ½ of 

Section 06 and Part of the W ½ of Section 05 and Part of the NW ¼ of Section 08 all in 

Township 112 Range 17 Cannon Falls Township.  A -3 Zoned District.  

PACPACKET_GESME.PDF

PUBLIC HEARING: Conservation Subdivision Plat (Hinrichs)

Request submitted by Laurie Hinrichs (owner) for Preliminary and Final Plat approval of 

the proposed “Hinrichs Subdivision” to rezone 40.0 acres and create a two lot 

Conservation Subdivision District on the property currently zoned A-1 (Agricultural 

Protection District). Parcel 39.008.2601. TBD 195th AVE Zumbrota, MN 55992. Part of 

the E 1/2 of the SW ¼ of Section 08 TWP 109 Range 15 in Pine Island Township. 

PACPACKET_HINRICHS.PDF

Other-Discussion

Adjourn

Anyone interested is invited to attend. Agenda items may be subject to change. 

Goodhue County Land Use Management

w  Goodhue County Government Center w  509 West Fifth Street w  Red Wing w  Minnesota w  55066 w

w  Building w Planning w  Zoning w  Telephone: 651/385 -3104 w Fax: 651/385 -3106 w

1.

Documents:

Documents:

1.

Documents:

2.

Documents:

3.

Documents:

https://co.goodhue.mn.us/883b480a-0a81-4627-a4d6-7425c775c753


























Pine Island Rezoning Comments: 

Leon Pike 21551 510th ST Pine Island, MN Comments received via phone February 7, 2022: Neighbor of 
Section 34. Against the proposed rezoning. Wants to keep the area agricultural and not allow more 
houses, sand pits, and solar facilities.  

Harold Radtke (Owns property in Section 28 of Pine Island Township) called staff February 14, 2022: 
Stated he would prefer to see the County rezone only the West half of Section 34 to A-2 while leaving 
the east half A-1 to facilitate agricultural uses.  



























 
 

 

“To effectively promote the safety, health, and well-being of our residents” 
www.co.goodhue.mn.us 

Page 1 of 4 

Environmental Health | Land Surveying | GIS 
Telephone:  651.385.3223 

Fax:  651.385.3098 

Lisa M. Hanni, L.S. Director 
Building | Planning | Zoning  
Telephone: 651.385.3104 
Fax: 651.385.3106 

Goodhue County Land Use Management 
Goodhue County Government Center | 509 West Fifth Street | Red Wing, Minnesota 55066 

 County Surveyor / Recorder 

To:  Planning Commission 
From: Land Use Management  
Meeting Date: March 21, 2022 
Report date:  March 11, 2022 
 
TABLED: CUP Request to Establish a Greater than 500 Animal Unit Feedlot Outside of 
a Farmyard and a Liquid Manure Storage Basin Exceeding 500,000 Gallons 
Request for a CUP, submitted by Kent Billman (Applicant) on behalf of Billman Farms LLC, to 
establish a hog finishing Feedlot for up to 2,400 head (720 Animal Units) outside of a Farmyard and 
construction of an animal waste storage pit exceeding 500,000 gallons. 
  
Application Information: 
Applicant: Kent Billman (Applicant) & Billman Farms LLC 
Address of zoning request: TBD 150th Ave, Zumbrota, MN 55992 
Parcel(s): 40.015.0400 
Abbreviated Legal: NW ¼ of the NW ¼ of Sect 15 TWP 109 R16 in Roscoe Township 
Township Information: Roscoe Township acknowledged the Applicants’ request at their January 
10th, 2022 meeting. The Township noted that final approval is up to the County. 
Zoning District: A1 (Agriculture Protection District) 
 
Attachments and links: 
Application and submitted project summary  
Site Map(s) 
Feedlot Officer Odor OFFSET calculations (Kelsey Petit) 
Staff Responses to Questions from February 2022 
February 14, 2022 DRAFT meeting minutes  
Goodhue County Zoning Ordinance (GCZO): 
http://www.co.goodhue.mn.us/DocumentCenter/View/2428  
 
Background:  
The Applicants are requesting Conditional Use Permit (CUP) approval to establish a 2,400 head 
swine finishing barn in section 15 of Roscoe Township. The proposal includes construction of a new 
finishing barn with a 1.1 million gallon below-grade manure storage pit.  

The Goodhue County Zoning Ordinance (GCZO) requires CUP approval for all Feedlots exceeding 
500 Animal Units in the A1 District and any animal waste storage pits exceeding 500,000 gallons. 
The proposed barn would be located on an existing unoccupied 29.56-acre property that is currently 
used for row-crop agriculture. Because the property is not currently a registered Feedlot and the 
operators dwelling is not located on the parcel, the proposal would create a new “Feedlot Outside of a 
Farmyard” which also requires CUP approval in Goodhue County.  

The Planning Advisory Commission held a public hearing on the request to establish a feedlot at 
their February 14, 2022 meeting. At that meeting the PAC tabled the request until the March 2022 
meeting to allow staff time to prepare responses to questions raised by the public regarding the 
feedlot’s operation. Staff has prepared answers to the questions which are included as a 
supplemental document.  

Goodhue County Zoning Ordinance: Article 4 Conditional/Interim Uses 
No CUP/IUP shall be recommended by the County Planning Commission unless said Commission specifies 
facts in their findings for each case which establish the proposed CUP/IUP will not be injurious to the use and 

http://www.co.goodhue.mn.us/DocumentCenter/View/2428


“To effectively promote the safety, health, and well-being of our residents” 
www.co.goodhue.mn.us 

Page 2 of 4 

enjoyment of other property in the immediate vicinity for the purposes already permitted, will not 
substantially diminish and impair property values within the immediate vicinity, will not impede the normal 
and orderly development and improvement of surrounding vacant property for uses predominant to the 
area, that adequate measures have been, or will be, taken to provide utilities, access roads, drainage, and 
other necessary facilities, to provide sufficient off-street parking and loading space, to control offensive odor, 
fumes, dust, noise, and vibration so that none of these will constitute a nuisance, and to control lighted signs 
and other lights in such a manner that no disturbance to neighboring properties will result. 
Project Summary:  
Property Information: 
 The vacant 29.56-acre property is currently used as tilled cropland. The southern portion of the 

property is located within the shoreland of Pine Island Creek. The Feedlot is not proposed to be 
constructed within the shoreland area of the property.  

 The property and all adjacent properties are zoned A1. Surrounding land uses are primarily 
agricultural (feedlots and row-crop agriculture). There is very-low residential density in the 
immediate vicinity with only 4 homes within a half-mile of the site. 

 The barn would be accessed by a new U-shaped aggregate driveway to be located off of 150th AVE 
(aggregate road) on the west side of the parcel. The Applicants will need to obtain any required 
driveway access approvals from Roscoe Township. Emergency vehicle access appears adequate to 
service the property. 

 A large gravel parking/loading pad is planned to the west of the new barn to provide off-street 
parking and off-loading space for trucks.  

Feedlot Facilities: 
 The Applicants are proposing to construct a 200-foot x 102-foot swine “finishing” barn 

constructed above a 9-foot deep concrete manure containment pit. 

 The barn and manure storage areas have been designed by ProAg Engineering, a Minnesota 
licensed engineering firm. 

 Additional facilities include a small office space in the southwest corner of the barn and 4 feed 
bins to be installed along the northwest corner of the barn. 

Animal Units/Setbacks: 
 The Applicants are proposing to register 2400 head of swine producing a total of 720 Animal 

Units as shown below (new Animal Units shown in red). 

Animal Type A.U. Factor # of Animals Animal Units 

One Head of Swine 

over 300 lbs. 0.4 0 0 

between 55 lbs. and 300 lbs. 0.3 2400 720 

under 55 lbs. 0.1 0 0 

Total Animal Units 720 

 New Feedlots are required to be setback 1000 feet or 94% Odor Annoyance-Free Rating distance 
(as determined by the Odor OFFSET Evaluation Model), whichever is greater, from existing 
dwellings. A 1,469-foot setback is required for the facility to meet a 94% Odor Annoyance-Free 
Rating.  

 The nearest dwelling (owned by Keith Swenson Jr TTEE) is located 1,469-feet west of the 
proposed Feedlot. All dwellings in the vicinity meet minimum setback requirements.  

The Feedlot is not within 2-miles of any municipality. 

 There are currently 2 dwellings located in section 15. As an A1 zoned section, a maximum of 4 
dwellings are allowed in the section. Section 15 has density available for two additional dwellings. 
Any new dwellings will be required to meet a 94% Odor Annoyance-Free Rating distance (as 
determined by the Odor OFFSET Evaluation Model) from the proposed feedlot. The sections 
north and west of the site are also zoned A1 and have either met or exceeded their available 



“To effectively promote the safety, health, and well-being of our residents” 
www.co.goodhue.mn.us 

Page 3 of 4 

dwelling density.  

 The proposed Feedlot is sited to comply with all other setback standards of the GCZO including 
property lines, wells, septic systems, Shoreland, Floodplains, sinkholes, and Blufflands. The site 
is not located within an abandoned quarry. 

Drainage/Landscaping: 
 The site has minimal topographic relief with slopes ranging from 2-4% in the project area. The 

facility would be sited near the highest elevation on the property.  

 A perimeter tile is proposed around the new barn that would be interconnected with a planned 
field tile drainage system that would likely outlet towards the southeast. 

 An NPDES Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan (SWPPP) is not required for this project as it 
will create less than one acre of impervious area.  

Goodhue County Soil and Water Conservation District Technician/Water Planner Chad 
Hildebrand reviewed the Applicant's submittal and offered the following comments: 

“According to the National Wetland Inventory (NWI) – wetlands are located on the parcel. 
There are soil types that are “Partially Hydric” and from aerial review appear to show 
conditions of being wetland areas located on the parcel. Review of the “Site Plans” indicate a silt 
fence to be installed along contour elevation 1173 feet and north or the proposed 
loadout/driveway access area in between the wetland area. Would recommend all silt fences 
and Best Management Practices (BMPs) be installed prior to any earthwork being initiated.”  

The feedlot is not proposed to be established on any wetland areas or areas with hydric soils.  

Nutrient/Waste Management: 
 Animal waste will be collected via a manure containment pit beneath the new barn until it can 

later be field-applied as fertilizer. The pit is subject to inspection throughout the construction 
process to ensure structural integrity and conformance with approved engineered plans. The 
proposed pit would hold up to 1,100,000 gallons and provide 430 days’ worth of on-site storage 
capacity for the operation.  

Manure Storage Area Status Type Length Width Depth Capacity (Gallons) 

Finishing Barn Proposed Concrete Pit 198’ 8” 99’ 
10” 9.0 1,100,000 

 

 A preliminary Nutrient Management Plan has been submitted for review to the Goodhue County 
Feedlot Officer. The Applicants plan to field apply manure via “knife injection” during the early 
fall. A final review and approval of the Applicants’ Nutrient Management Plan will be required 
before completion of the Feedlot Registration process. 

 An Animal Mortality Plan has also been submitted for initial review. The Applicants plan to 
utilize on-site composting as the primary method of disposal of deceased animals.  

 The barn will be “total confinement” to reduce off-site odor impacts.  

 The Applicants have not proposed to install a septic system on-site. It should be noted that any 
wastewater from showers, hand wash sinks, bathrooms, or any other source of human sewage 
cannot be comingled and must be treated by a septic system permitted by Goodhue County 
Environmental Health. 

A new well will be installed to supply water for the operation. Wells are subject to permit 
approval and inspection from the Goodhue County Environmental Health Department. 

County Feedlot Officer Comments: 
 Goodhue County Feedlot Officer Kelsey Petit offered the following comments: 

“With the manure management planner Billman displayed, if practiced correctly Billman will 
take all protective measures to meet state and county requirements to provide sufficient 
protection of all water resources. The manure management planner if used appropriately 
meets all of the nutrient necessities to ensure the nutrients are utilized properly and meet the 



“To effectively promote the safety, health, and well-being of our residents” 
www.co.goodhue.mn.us 

Page 4 of 4 

requirements for Goodhue County. With the manure storage Billman can maximize the value of 
the swine manure and incorporate the manure in a timely manner. In addition, there are land 
maps and land application agreements with land owners in the area of the proposed facility.” 

Draft Findings of Fact: 
The following staff findings shall be amended to reflect concerns conveyed during the PAC meeting 
and public hearing. 
 

1. The proposed Feedlot and manure storage pit does not appear injurious to the use and 
enjoyment of properties in the immediate vicinity for uses already permitted, nor would it 
substantially diminish and impair property values in the immediate vicinity. The use is located in 
an A1 (Agriculture Protection) zone which was intended to allow for large-scale agricultural 
operations. Large separation distances and very low residential density in the vicinity buffer the 
Feedlot from existing non-compatible uses in the surrounding area. The use appears harmonious 
with the established uses in the vicinity which include primarily cropland and animal agriculture.  

2. The Feedlot and liquid manure storage pit are not anticipated to impede the normal and orderly 
development or improvement of surrounding vacant property for uses predominant to the area.  
Any new dwellings must meet the minimum setback standards required by ordinance. The 
proposal meets or exceeds all the other development standards of the Goodhue County Zoning 
Ordinance and appears compatible with adjacent land uses. 

3. A review of the Applicants’ submitted project summary indicates adequate utilities, access roads, 
drainage, and other necessary facilities are available or will be installed to accommodate the 
proposed use.  

4. The submitted plans identify means to provide sufficient off-street parking and loading space to 
serve the proposed use and meet the Goodhue County Zoning Ordinance’s parking requirements.  

5. The submitted plans detail adequate measures to prevent or control offensive odor, fumes, dust, 
noise, and vibration so that none of these will constitute a nuisance. Furthermore, the Applicants’ 
plans appear capable of controlling lights in such a manner that no disturbance to neighboring 
properties will result. The new barn and manure pit are “total confinement” and manure is field 
applied via “knife injection” to minimize odor and fume impacts to surrounding landowners.  

Staff recommendation is based on the review of the submitted application and project area prior to 
the public hearing. 
 

Staff Recommendation: 
LUM Staff recommends the Planning Advisory Commission  

• adopt the staff report into the record;  
• adopt the findings of fact;  
• accept the application, testimony, exhibits, and other evidence presented into the record; and 

 

Recommend the County Board of Commissioners APPROVE the CUP requests, submitted by Kent 
Billman (Applicant) on behalf of Billman Farms LLC (Owners), to establish a hog finishing Feedlot 
Outside of a Farmyard for up to 720 Animal Units and construction of an animal waste storage pit of 
up to 1,100,000 gallons. 
Subject to the following conditions: 

1. The Feedlot shall be constructed according to submitted plans, specifications, and narrative 
unless modified by a condition of this CUP;  

2. Applicants shall obtain Building Permit approvals from the Goodhue County Land Use 
Management Department prior to establishing the use; 

3. A stormwater management and erosion control plan shall be submitted for administrative 
review as part of the Building Permit Application for the project;  

4. Compliance with Goodhue County Zoning Ordinance including, but not limited to, Article 21 
(Agriculture Protection District) and Article 13 (Confined Feedlot Regulations); and 

5. Compliance with all necessary State and Federal registrations, permits, licensing, and 
regulations. 



 

 
“To effectively promote the safety, health, and well-being of our residents” 

www.co.goodhue.mn.us 
Page 1 of 5 

 

Building | Planning | Zoning  
Telephone: 651.385.3104 
Fax:  651.267.4875 

Environmental Health | Land Surveying | GIS 
Telephone:  651.385.3223 

Fax:  651.267.4875 

Lisa M. Hanni, L.S. Director 

Goodhue County Land Use Management 

Goodhue County Government Center | 509 West Fifth Street | Red Wing, Minnesota 55066 
 County Surveyor / Recorder 

 

 

TO: Planning Advisory Commission 
FROM: LUM Staff/Goodhue SWCD 
RE: Billman Feedlot Public Comment Responses 
Date: March 11, 2022 
 

Please note: These responses include references to engineering plans which have been provided to staff 
however, due to copyright laws staff is unable to publish proposed construction plans for public review. 
Staff has reviewed all plans and has verified compliance with all local and state regulations. Reviews will 
continue during the construction and operation of the facility as required by County Ordinances and 
State laws.  

1. Can the Board explain how property values will not go down if this feedlot is constructed? 

Individual property owners would need to contact the County Assessor’s office for property value 
questions. 

2. The public hearing letter mailed by staff on February 2, 2022, was inaccurate. 

The inaccuracy on the mailed public hearing notices was the inset map provided did not show the 
parcel in question. Minnesota State Statutes require written notice of a public hearing to be mailed 
to property owners within a certain distance of a request. State statute does not require maps to be 
provided for public notices. The written address and legal descriptions were correct as required by 
statute, any inaccuracies on the map included with the public hearing notice do not invalidate public 
hearing proceedings.   

3. Dwelling eligibility of parcel 40.009.0700. 

This parcel would qualify as an Abandoned Homestead site where there is clear evidence of a 
dwelling on the parcel in the past (pre-2000s imagery) and a new dwelling may be established. Any 
dwelling established on this parcel would not require an odor-offset variance to the proposed 
Billman feedlot as it would be greater than 1,469-feet from the feedlot. A future dwelling on this 
parcel may require a variance to odor-offsets to the Hoven feedlot on parcel 40.010.0300 (the 
Hovens also own parcel 40.009.0700) depending on offset calculations performed at the time of 
application. 

4. This past fall, Billman Farms, LLC, appeared to have removed the intermittent stream (Billman 
et al. refer to this as a drainage ditch in their application) to the east of the proposed facility 
that runs directly into Pine Island Creek.  Is this correct? If it is correct, then why was this 



 

 
“To effectively promote the safety, health, and well-being of our residents” 

www.co.goodhue.mn.us 
Page 2 of 5 

 

stream removed, and was it done appropriately so that it does not negatively affect the 
shoreland, the Pine Island Creek, and environments downstream? 

The Billmans contacted the Goodhue SWCD office for technical assistance regarding erosion concerns 
and extensive gullying on this property. SWCD staff visited the site with Mr. Billman to review and 
provide technical assistance and suggestions to address the concern. The area in question was 
observed as having excessive gully erosion and cutting causing water to jump out into the field to the 
west, causing sediment to erode. The suggestion was to establish a grassed waterway to help 
protect from future gullying and convey the large contributing watershed from the north, 
approximately 160 acres, through the area in a controlled manner. Mr. Billman did not request any 
financial assistance to implement the project and has done similar conservation projects in the past 
on other lands to protect his fields from erosion.   

5. 80% of the acres that Billman Farms plans to spread manure are in an environmentally 
sensitive area (400 acres of the proposed 503 acres): lake, river, stream or intermittent 
stream. This includes 22 acres (Strand), 210 acres (Kvalong -Strand), 60 acres (Haugen - 
Strand), 53 acres (Lystrom), 55 acres (Bryans).  What are the corresponding environmental 
affects to the shoreland, Pine Island Creek, wildlife, downstream areas, and drinking water?  
There are protective measures that are required for land application near these sensitive 
features that will be taken into effect when the Billmans incorporate swine manure. Under MN 
Statute 7020.2225 minimum setbacks for the land application of manure or processed 
wastewater from livestock and poultry operations is 300ft from a lake/river/stream or if the 
manure is incorporated within 24 hours it can be incorporated within 25 feet of these sensitive 
features. MN Statute 103F.48 – Buffer Law requires that all identified public waters have a 50-
foot average width of perennial vegetation with no areas below 30 feet in width. The parcel has 
an identified public water and meets the buffer requirement.  
The Goodhue County Zoning Ordinance Article 13 section 8 “Manure Application Setbacks” 
requires a 300-foot setback from any dwelling (other than the operator’s dwelling), church, or 
school (as defined in MN Statutes 120A.05), and private schools excluding home school sites for 
surface, incorporated, or injected manure applications. There shall be a 1,000-foot setback from 
any dwelling (other than the operator’s dwelling), church, or school (as defined in MN Statutes 
120A.05), and private schools excluding home school sites, for irrigation manure application. 
There shall be a 200-foot setback from any public or private well for surface, incorporated, 
injected, or irrigation manure application. Written agreements between affected neighbors may 
allow an exception to minimum setback requirements for the land application of manure, 
provided the setback complies with the MN Statute 7020 feedlot rules and the Goodhue County 
Environmental Health ordinance.   
 

6. Does field tiling increase the natural filtering process and flow rates through soils, or does it 
decrease the filtering time?  Please explain how manure being drained directly into Pine Island 
Creek due to field tiling will affect the protected shoreland around Pine Island Creek?  Please 
also explain how this will or will not increase potentially harmful nutrients, which will affect 
local and downstream aquatic life, and downstream shoreline and stream aquatic life. 
It does increase the natural filtering process. With manure being organic fertilizer, the fertilizer is 
tied up compared to commercial fertilizer which tends to leech into the soil faster. The land 
application of manure has long been viewed to improve crop production and soil properties, such 
as infiltration, aggregation, and bulk density due to the presence of nutrients and organic 



 

 
“To effectively promote the safety, health, and well-being of our residents” 

www.co.goodhue.mn.us 
Page 3 of 5 

 

matter. The SWCD encourages all producers applying manure to do it in such a way as as to 
minimize soils disturbance if possible (reduced tillage application). However, this is not always 
possible with many producers' equipment. 

7. Who is responsible for any of the potential environmental tragedies (spills), and what is the 
proposed plan if an environmental tragedy happens? 
An Emergency Response Plan has been developed for this site addressing these concerns. The 
County Feedlot Officer and MPCA may review these materials at any time.  
 

8. What assurance is made that manure management will be planned appropriately?  

Manure management planners are required by MPCA as specified in Minn. R. ch 7020.2225 
when manure is produced from a feedlot capable of holding 300 or more animal units. Once a 
manure management planner is required for a facility the plan must be updated and retained 
on file.  Producers using the manure management planner need to review the planner at least 
once a year and modify it appropriately to include any changes in cropping rotations, manure 
amounts, manure nutrient levels, fields for application, or other practices that affect the 
available nutrient amounts or crop nutrient needs. A manure management planner must 
contain all elements in Minn. R. ch. 7020.2225 subp. 4, item D. Planners include the following 
four general parts:  

                     -Manure storage, handling, and testing practices.  
                    - Field locations and acreage used for spreading manure.  
                    - Field-specific nutrient management.  
                    - Sensitive areas management.  

These records are reviewed during County Feedlot Officer feedlot inspections for compliance 
and may be adjusted if cropping system/landowners/ nutrient availability/ etc. change over 
time. 

9. The OFFSET summary provides two figures of % odor annoyance-free versus distance (ft).  A   
statistic (average % odor annoyance free) without a measure of variability (i.e., precision) is 
not informative.  Corresponding confidence intervals are necessary to know the precision of 
these estimates. (Maybe explain how the offset is calculated?) 

The Odor Offset was developed by the Department of Bioproducts and Biosystems Engineering 
through grant funds provided by the Minnesota Department of Agriculture via the MN State 
Legislature. OFFSET is intended to provide farmers, consultants, regulators, and concerned 
citizens in Minnesota with a simple and quick means of assessing the air quality impacts from 
animal feeding operations. OFFSET estimates average odor impacts from a variety of animal 
facilities and manure storage sites. The OFFSET is based on odor measurements from Minnesota 
farms and Minnesota climatic conditions. If interested you can find more information on the 
University of Minnesota Extension Manure Management website for more details. 
https://extension.umn.edu/livestock-operations/manure-management  

10. Similarly, curves with confidence intervals are necessary for noise-free versus distance (ft); 
data on noise are missing all together.  
Odor Offset does not estimate noise. One of the CUP findings is “adequate measures have been 
or will be taken to prevent or control offensive odor, fumes, dust, noise, and vibration so none of 

https://extension.umn.edu/livestock-operations/manure-management


 

 
“To effectively promote the safety, health, and well-being of our residents” 

www.co.goodhue.mn.us 
Page 4 of 5 

 

these will constitute a nuisance…” County staff proactively addresses any complaints regarding 
noise.  

11. If the facility is rated to 2,400 head of feeder hogs, does this imply that 2,400 hogs will be 
moved through the facility in a year? If hogs of the rated nature for this facility are rated at 0.3 
AU’s and 2 rotations of 2,400 hogs, would this increase the suggested animal units to 1,440 
AU’s (2 rotations) or even 2,160 AU’s (3 rotations)? 
No, this facility can only house 2,400 head at a time, they could house less than 2,400 head of 
swine but could not have more than 2,400 head of swine at this site. Animal unit numbers are 
calculated based on the maximum number of animals permitted on a site and are not 
compounded due to rotations.  
 

12. Where will composting be done? 
Onsite composting will be utilized. The bunker will be located on the southeast corner of the 
building.  
 

13. How will the facility control varmints and local opportunistic predators who could spread 
pathogens by both foot and aerial transportation? 
The operators utilize bait stations around and inside the barn for mice and rats.  
 

14. How can you ensure the water in Pine Island Creek will not be contaminated by the tile runoff 
from this property?   
There will be perimeter tile around the manure storage structure area. To check to make sure the 
structure is working properly the producer uses a measuring device to identify the amount of 
manure in the liquid manure storage area. Utilizing best management practices the producers 
have to check the perimeter tile routinely.  
 

15. Additionally, the water level for wells is quite shallow in this area. How can you ensure it will 
not impact our water quality? 
Landowners/residents can purchase water sampling/testing kits to test their drinking water or 
well water for nitrate levels. Required setbacks from wells for manure application are 200-feet, 
the proposed manure management plan meets these requirements. Animal feedlots with over 
300 animal units must be setback 100-feet from residential wells, the proposed feedlot meets 
these setbacks. The University of Minnesota has developed an interactive map of the Zumbro 
Watershed. Zumbro River Watershed 3D Geological Model (arcgis.com)  this map is a 3D map 
that displays the different “Surficial Glacial Geology” of an area and how it may pertain to 
groundwater or how it reacts with groundwater. The Minnesota Geological Survey published 
Geologic atlas of Goodhue County which also displays geological resources of the County 
https://conservancy.umn.edu/handle/11299/58551 . Can also refer to the engineering plans 
that display the Bedrock Geology with the plans.  

16.  Have soil borings been done in the area? Will this be done to ensure safety of soil integrity 
and contamination and susceptibility for ground water contamination? Will they be 
monitoring the ground underneath the lagoon to ensure integrity of the holding structure? 
How will this be done? 
Soil borings have been done. Refer to the engineering plans of the proposed barn. There is 
perimeter tile around the manure storage structure area. To check to make sure the structure is 
working properly the producer uses a measuring device to identify the amount of manure in the 

https://umn.maps.arcgis.com/apps/webappviewer3d/index.html?id=bd7329ef9f9b48fa90a3ae6a16cff3aa
https://conservancy.umn.edu/handle/11299/58551


 

 
“To effectively promote the safety, health, and well-being of our residents” 

www.co.goodhue.mn.us 
Page 5 of 5 

 

liquid manure storage area. Utilizing best management practices the producers have to check 
the perimeter tile often. 
 

17. Will soil be tested to determine appropriate manure disposal prior to installation to know 
appropriate amount to apply?  
Refer to the manure management planner. The Goodhue SWCD provided the Billmans with an 
initial review of the manure management planner for the proposed barn. The manure 
management planner follows and meets all County and State requirements.  

18. It is also unclear where the manure would be disposed of and if the locations would be 
rotated or changed. Please refer to the manure management planner.  
The Goodhue SWCD provided the Billmans with an initial review of the manure management 
planner for this proposed barn. The manure management planner follows and meets all County 
and State requirements. 
 

19. There does not seem to be a defined plan for disposal of deceased animals.  Again, there is 
concern for odor from dead animals as well as the attraction of coyotes to the area. Disposal 
needs to occur off-site and in a timely manner. 
There is a mortality plan for this proposed site, compost would be the primary method. The 
proposal complies with County and State disposal requirements.  
 

20.  I, also, question the need for a secondary spillage containment structure in the event of the 
primary failing. 
The manure waste storage structure has been designed in accordance with MINN. R. CH 
7020.2100 requirements for design, specifications, construction, maintenance, and operation of 
liquid manure storage areas. These plans include all assumptions and calculations while meeting 
the requirements. 
 

21. Can the manure application agreements be signed by Brian Haugen who is renting the land?  
Yes 

22. Some questions addressed items that are considered “private data” and are not able to be 
shared with the public. Staff would like to reiterate that these items have been reviewed and 
will continue to be reviewed during Feedlot operation according to all County and State rules: 

a. Is the field owned by Raymond Kvalvog (>100 acres) also tiled to drain directly into 
Pine Island Creek?  

b. What is management’s expected mortality rate for the facility?  
c. How many total hogs will be at the facility each year; i.e. how many rotations of 2400 

hogs per year? 
d. Where will the hogs be sourced from? 
e. What disease mitigation plans are in place for PRRS, PEDV and for the possibility if the 

African swine fever made it into the United States? 

















































¯
0 250 500125

Feet

Figure 2

2020 Aerial Imagery

9
10

15

16

Roscoe

15
0T

H
Partially
Hydric

Partially
Hydric

Partially
Hydric

Partially
Hydric

Partially
Hydric

Freshwater
Forested/Shrub

Wetland

Freshwater
Emergent
Wetland

Freshwater
Emergent Wetland

400090700 400100800400101100

400150300

400150400

400150500

400160100

400160300

BART J HOVEN
ELIZABETH B BRODHEADNORRIS P BJORNGAARD RT

RAYMOND P KVALVOG

BILLMAN FARMS LLC

ELIZABETH B BRODHEAD
HOVEN
FAMILY
FARMS

Billman Farms LLC (PIN 400150400)
Roscoe Township, Section 15

This is for informational use only and not used for precise or construction measurements. Only informational.

Parcel

Hydric Soil Rating
All Hydric

Partially Hydric









 
 

 

“To effectively promote the safety, health, and well-being of our residents” 

www.co.goodhue.mn.us 
Page 1 of 4 

Environmental Health | Land Surveying | GIS 

Telephone:  651.385.3223 

Fax:  651.385.3098 

Lisa M. Hanni, L.S. Director 

Building | Planning | Zoning  

Telephone: 651.385.3104 

Fax: 651.385.3106 

Goodhue County Land Use Management 

Goodhue County Government Center | 509 West Fifth Street | Red Wing, Minnesota 55066 

 County Surveyor / Recorder 

To:  Planning Commission 
From: Land Use Management  
Meeting Date: March 21, 2022 
Report date:  March 11, 2022 
 
PUBLIC HEARING: Request for IUP for a Utility-Scale Solar Energy System (SES) 
Request for IUP, submitted by Sturgeon Garden LLC (Applicant) and Seth and Lisa Thomforde 
(Owners), for a Utility-Scale Photovoltaic Ground 1-Megawatt Solar Energy System occupying 
approximately 8 acres.  
 
Application Information: 
Applicant: Sturgeon Garden LLC (Applicant) and Seth and Lisa Thomforde (Owners) 
Address of zoning request: TBD 230th AVE, Goodhue, MN 55027 
Parcel: 33.026.0600 
Abbreviated Legal: Part of the S ½ of the SE ¼ of Section 26 TWP 111 Range 15 in Goodhue 
Township.  
Township Information: Goodhue Township received the application materials from the applicant 
and signed the acknowledgement form with no objections.   
Zoning District: A1 (Agricultural Protection District) 
 
Attachments and links: 
Applications and submitted project summary  
Site Map(s) 
Goodhue County Zoning Ordinance (GCZO): 
http://www.co.goodhue.mn.us/DocumentCenter/View/2428  
 
Background:  
The applicant has submitted an IUP request to construct and operate a 1 Megawatt (MW) 
photovoltaic (PV) utility-scale solar garden on approximately 8 acres of leased land located in 
Goodhue Township that is currently owned by Seth and Lisa Thomforde. The project would be 
developed in conjunction with the State of Minnesota Solar Garden program and Xcel Energy's Solar 
Rewards Community Program. The program allows developers to design, permit, own, and operate 
solar energy systems and sell the generated power directly to consumers. Upon completion, the Solar 
Garden would connect to Xcel Energy’s distribution grid and generate up to 1 MW of energy annually 
over the next 35 years.    

Per Goodhue County regulations, Solar Energy Systems (SES) that are the primary use of the land 
and are designed to primarily provide energy to off-site users or export to the wholesale market may 
be conditionally permitted as a “Utility-Scale SES” within the County’s A1 zoned districts.    

Goodhue County Zoning Ordinance: Article 4 Conditional/Interim Uses 
No CUP/IUP shall be recommended by the County Planning Commission unless said Commission specifies 
facts in their findings for each case which establish the proposed CUP/IUP will not be injurious to the use and 
enjoyment of other property in the immediate vicinity for the purposes already permitted, will not 
substantially diminish and impair property values within the immediate vicinity, will not impede the normal 
and orderly development and improvement of surrounding vacant property for uses predominant to the 
area, that adequate measures have been, or will be, taken to provide utilities, access roads, drainage and 
other necessary facilities, to provide sufficient off-street parking and loading space, to control offensive odor, 
fumes, dust, noise and vibration so that none of these will constitute a nuisance, and to control lighted signs 
and other lights in such a manner that no disturbance to neighboring properties will result. 



“To effectively promote the safety, health, and well-being of our residents” 

www.co.goodhue.mn.us 
Page 2 of 4 

 

Project Summary:  
Property Information: 
 The approximately 8-acre site to be leased by the applicant is currently used for row-crop 

agriculture.  

The nearest residence to the south is owned by Melanie Hinsch (Parcel 33.035.0100) and is 
located approximately 144-feet from the proposed facility. The nearest residence to the east is 
located 210-feet from the proposed facility and is owned by Michael Hinsch (PID 33.025.0600).  

Adjacent land uses include row-crop agriculture and animal agriculture (feedlots) among 
medium-density residential uses.  

 The property is surrounded by A-1 zoned properties. Section 26 and all neighboring sections of 
Goodhue Township are considered “full” for dwelling development.  

Solar Array: 
 The solar array is proposed to include 2,800 single-axis tracking panels installed in 40 rows.  

Steel-driven posts will hold up solar panels, reaching 11 feet above grade at the maximum 
configuration. The solar panels will be equipped with a silicone-based anti-glare coating.  

The racking will be installed with piles that are anchored into the ground to an appropriate depth 
based on soil and geotechnical analysis.  

The solar array will interconnect to the power grid via a concrete equipment pad in the northeast 
corner of the project area, facilitating connection to the existing Xcel Energy grid.  

 A 14-foot wide crushed aggregate access road will be provided to access the leased project area. 
The Applicant will need to work with Goodhue Township to permit the new access road onto 
230th AVE. Emergency vehicle access appears adequate to service the facility.  

A recorded ingress/egress easement is not required for the property given the site is to be leased 
and all land to be crossed to access the site will remain under common ownership. 

A separate fire number will be required for the site. 

 Once constructed, traffic to the site would be limited to periodic visits by maintenance and 
landscaping personnel to perform routine maintenance, in addition to any unplanned 
maintenance. 

Landscaping/Drainage: 
 The site slopes generally from northwest to southeast. 

 
 Apart from the meter pad (typically less than 500 square feet), the entire area within the project 

boundary will be seeded with low-growth native prairie plants and a pollinator mix. Specific seed 
types are typically reviewed by Goodhue County SWCD during the building permit phase. 

 The Applicant stated a wetland delineation will be performed in the spring, and the project area 
will decrease to 7 acres if a wetland is not present (the northern panel rows as shown on the 
proposal would be shifted east). The number of solar collectors and rows installed would not 
increase if shifted east. Chad Hildebrand, SWCD Water Planner has reviewed the site and stated:  

 “After review of the site, the area identified as a “Potential Wetland Area” appears to be on the 
upper part of the knob and at the beginning of the concentrated flow point. The plans that I 
reviewed showed the solar panels are outside of that area and silt fences are proposed to be 
installed to protect any erosion concerns. To properly determine if that area has wetland 
characteristics, would likely need to complete a site visit in the spring or have a private company 
complete a wetland delineation and submit an application for boundary/type determination.” 

 An erosion control/stormwater management plan is customarily submitted for administrative 
review at the time of building permit application. An NPDES (National Pollutant Discharge 
Elimination System) and SWPP will be required for this project and will need to be submitted by 
the Applicant prior to building permit approval.  



“To effectively promote the safety, health, and well-being of our residents” 

www.co.goodhue.mn.us 
Page 3 of 4 

 A 7-foot tall agricultural fence will be constructed around the perimeter of the project area for 
visual screening and to control for security.  

 The Applicants have also proposed to install landscape screening south and east of the array to 
minimize visual impact. Screening would consist of a single row of evergreen/coniferous trees.  

 The landscape has a shallow northern slope which will require some light grading to allow for 
proper solar panel mounting.  

 Ample room exists on the property to fulfill GCZO off-street parking requirements.  

 Construction is expected to begin in the spring of 2023 and would conclude the same year. 
Proposed construction hours are 7 AM – 7 PM Monday through Friday.  

Maintenance/Decommissioning: 
 The project is subject to the issuance of a Building Permit and must be constructed according to 

applicable building code requirements. The project will be inspected by County Building 
Inspections Staff and the State Electrical Inspector.  In addition, Planning and Zoning Staff will 
inspect the project upon completion to ensure conformance with applicable zoning requirements. 
 

 Mowing will be limited and utilized only when necessary for routine maintenance and potential 
weed and shrub control. The maintenance plan for the project includes provisions to replace dead 
or dying trees used as screening. 

 
 The Applicant has drafted a Decommissioning Agreement between Sturgeon Garden LLC and 

Seth and Lisa Thomforde. Upon the end of the project’s useful life, decommissioning would occur 
within 60 days and include removal and recycling of all non-biodegradable equipment including 
concrete foundations, access roads, fencing, cables, and other ancillary facilities owned by the 
solar garden.   

Per GCZO Article 19, the applicant may be required to provide a financial surety at up to 125% of 
the estimated decommissioning cost. The county has not typically exercised the right to financial 
assurance requirements for similar solar installations.  The Planning Advisory Commission and 
County Board should consider if the County should require financial assurance to cover 
anticipated decommissioning costs. 

Draft Findings of Fact: 
The following staff findings shall be amended to reflect concerns conveyed during the PAC meeting 
and public hearing. 
 

1. The proposed Solar Garden does not appear injurious to the use and enjoyment of properties in 
the immediate vicinity for uses already permitted, nor would it substantially diminish and impair 
property values in the immediate vicinity. The use appears harmonious with the established uses 
in the vicinity. 

2. The establishment of the proposed Solar Garden is not anticipated to impede the normal and 
orderly development and improvement of surrounding vacant property for uses predominant to 
the area. The use is proposed to meet all development standards of the Goodhue County Zoning 
Ordinance and it does not appear incompatible with adjacent land uses. 

3. A review of the applicant’s submitted project summary indicates adequate utilities, access roads, 
drainage, and other necessary facilities are available to accommodate the proposed use.  

4. The submitted plans identify means to provide sufficient off-street parking and loading space to 
serve the proposed use and meet the Goodhue County Zoning Ordinance’s parking requirements.  

5. The submitted plans detail adequate measures to prevent or control offensive odor, fumes, dust, 
noise, and vibration so that none of these will constitute a nuisance.  

Staff recommendation is based on the review of the submitted application and project area prior to 
the public hearing. 
Staff Recommendation: 
LUM Staff recommends the Planning Advisory Commission  

 adopt the staff report into the record;  



“To effectively promote the safety, health, and well-being of our residents” 

www.co.goodhue.mn.us 
Page 4 of 4 

 adopt the findings of fact;  

 accept the application, testimony, exhibits, and other evidence presented into the record; and 
 

Recommend that the County Board of Commissioners APPROVE the request for an IUP, submitted 
by Sturgeon Garden LLC (Applicant) and Seth and Lisa Thomforde (Owners) for a Utility-Scale 
Photovoltaic Ground 1 Megawatt Solar Energy System (SES) occupying approximately 8 acres. 
 
Subject to the following conditions: 

1. Activities shall be conducted according to submitted plans, specifications, and narrative 
unless modified by a condition of this IUP;  

2. The project shall be decommissioned according to Article 19 Section 6 of the Goodhue County 
Zoning Ordinance and submitted plans; 

3. A decommissioning agreement between the landowner and Sturgeon Garden LLC shall be 
maintained to ensure reclamation of the area;  

4. LUM staff shall be notified by the landowner or solar company 30 days prior to ownership 
transfer or operator changes; 

5. Applicants shall work with the Goodhue Soil and Water Conservation District to determine 
an appropriate seed mix for disturbed areas of the site and should submit “seed tags” to the 
Land Use Management department prior to final inspection;  

6. A stormwater management and erosion control plan shall be submitted for administrative 
review as part of the Building Permit Application for the project;  

7. Applicants shall obtain Building Permit approvals from the Goodhue County Land Use 
Management Department prior to establishing the use; 

8. Compliance with Goodhue County Zoning Ordinance including, but not limited to, Article 19 
Solar Energy Systems (SES) and Article 21 (Agricultural Protection District).  The Applicant 
shall request a final inspection of the project for compliance with applicable zoning 
requirements upon completion of the project; 

9. Compliance with all necessary State and Federal registrations, permits, licensing, and 
regulations; and 

10. This IUP shall expire 35 years from the date of approval unless terminated prior to that date. 

 

 

 

  

 







 

GOODHUE COUNTY CONDITIONAL/INTERIM USE PERMIT APPLICATION 
 

PROJECT SUMMARY 
 

Please provide answers to the following questions in the spaces below. If additional space is needed, you may 
provide an attached document. 

  
1. Description of purpose and planned scope of operations (including retail/wholesale activities). 
  

 

 
 

 
 

2. Planned use of existing buildings and proposed new structures associated with the proposal. 
   

 

 
 

 
3. Proposed number of non-resident employees. 

   
 

 
 

 
4. Proposed hours of operation (time of day, days of the week, time of year) including special events not 

within the normal operating schedule. 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
5. Planned maximum capacity/occupancy. 
  

 

 
 

 
6. Traffic generation and congestion, loading and unloading areas, and site access. 

   
 

 
 

 
7. Off-street parking provisions (number of spaces, location, and surface materials). 

   
 

 
 

 
8. Proposed solid waste disposal provisions. 

   
 

 
 

 
9. Proposed sanitary sewage disposal systems, potable water systems, and utility services. 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
                                                                                                

 

 

2 

Approximate 7-acre Community Solar Garden in accordance with Xcel Energy's Solar Rewards Community program. The site will be 1MW AC in size. 

New structures will include ~ 2,700 solar panels arranged on ground-mounted racking.

Please see proposal.

Continuous operation.

NA

During operation, an expected 3-6 visits will be made annually  During construction an expected 5-10 personal vehicles for workers, along with 1-2 trucks bringing in

equipment will be present. All loading will happen within the project area on the property..

All parking will happen within the project area on the property.

The solar project will create no general waste long term. During construction a dumpster will be maintained within the site for general waste and 

garbage. Site will be walked routinely to keep the site free of debris.

The project will not generate any sewage.



                                         
10. Existing and proposed exterior lighting. 
  

 

 
 

 
11. Existing and proposed exterior signage. 

   
 

 
 

 
12. Existing and proposed exterior storage. 

   
 

 
 

 
13. Proposed safety and security measures. 

   
 

 
 

 
14. Adequacy of accessibility for emergency services to the site. 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
15. Potential for generation of noise, odor, or dust and proposed mitigation measures. 
  

 

 
 

 
16. Anticipated landscaping, grading, excavation, filling, and vegetation removal activities. 

   
 

 
 

 
17. Existing and proposed surface-water drainage provisions. 

   
 

 
 

 
18. Description of food and liquor preparation, serving, and handling provisions. 

   
 

 
 

 
19. Provide any other such information you feel is essential to the review of your proposal. 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
  

 

3 

Please see proposal.

Signage will be present at the exterior of the project.

NA

A fence will surround the project to deter people and animals from entry. 

The project will be given an E911 address and will have adequate accessibility via the access road to be put in by the project.

The project will not create any noise, odor, or dust.

Please see proposal.

Please see proposal.NA

NA

Please see proposal.

Please see proposal.





Conditional Use Permit 
Sturgeon Garden LLC 

Section 26 Township 111 Range 015 
 

PID R 33.026.0600  Goodhue County 

 
OVERVIEW 
Sturgeon Garden LLC submits this application for a Conditional Use Permit (CUP) to the 
Goodhue County Planning Commission for a 1MW Utility Scale Solar Energy System under 
Goodhue County Zoning Ordinance Article 19 Solar Energy System (SES) Regulations.  The 
project site plan, planting plan, and additional supplemental information is included in this 
submission. 

 
As part of Xcel Energy’s Solar*Rewards Community Program, Sturgeon Garden LLC will consist 
of approximately 2,800 panels on roughly 8 acres of land. The Community Solar Garden (solar 
farm) will have a useful life of 35+ years.  Once operating, this project will deliver over 
2,000MWh of clean, local energy annually to the surrounding community with only the sun as 
feedstock. 

 
The solar farm consists of steel driven posts embedded in the ground, with solar modules 
attached to the top of the posts, tracking the sun east to west throughout the day, sitting 
approximately 11-ft off the ground at the highest point. This project utilizes silicon based 
solar panels which have an anti-glare coating.  There are no hazardous materials in the 
system, and no noise other than typical transformer humming would be present within the 
fence.  We have proposed to enclose the system with a 7-foot-tall agricultural fence to not 
only minimize the visual impact but also restrict access to the system from unqualified 
personnel.  The cover crop inside the footprint of the system will be a combination of low 
growth native prairie plants and a seed mix that promotes pollinator friendly habitats 
consistent with MN Stat. 216B.1642 as required.    

 
3rd Party Engineering has been commissioned to perform wetland, hydrology, historical, 
ecological and an environmental survey to ensure the site is suitable for development. 
Construction is targeted for the early spring of 2023 and will conclude in the same year.  
Proposed working times would be between the hours of 7am-7pm on Monday thru Friday. 
Weekend work may take place if there are significant project delays due to weather.  These 
hours are flexible and we intend to work with the community to control noise and 
disturbance.  A more detailed construction schedule can be made available to the county as 
needed.    

 
An Operations and Maintenance contractor will be hired by Sturgeon Garden LLC.  This team 
would consist of an electrician, as well as, a groundskeeper to ensure the system is operating 
safely and the landscaping is properly maintained.  Each would independently visit 3-6 visits 
a year depending on necessity.  While onsite, the technician mows, manages vegetation, and 
verifies storm water management is properly working. A Maintenance Plan is included for 
more detail.   

 
Interconnection  
The solar farm is positioned favorably for interconnection to the Xcel grid.  The access road 
will connect to 230th St, and the project will interconnect with existing Xcel overhead 
distribution lines and poles off 230th Ave.  Three new poles will be added for interconnection 
as shown on the site plan, with the remainder of the collection line being underground.  The 
1 MW system will connect to the WEL021 feeder line for the Wells Creek Substation.  Sturgeon 





Conditional Use Permit 
Sturgeon Garden LLC 

 

PID R 33.026.0600  Goodhue County 

 
 
Visual Analysis 
Sturgeon Garden LLC has competed a visual analysis of the site and considered mitigations 
to visual impacts.  We will use of vegetative screening and agricultural fence, and believe the 
project has mitigated visual impacts to remain compatible with the agricultural surrounding. 
Sturgeon Garden LLC will also be adhering to all required setbacks.   
 
Decommissioning 
Sturgeon Garden LLC commits to both our land owners and permitting authorities that we 
will decommission and restore the site at the end of the system’s serviceable life or if the 
system becomes a discontinued use.   The project owner will be responsible for all costs 
associated with decommissioning as outlined in the land owner lease agreement.    
 
All equipment will be removed within one (1) year from the day the system is no longer in 
service or discontinued.  A system shall be considered out of service at the end of the solar 
farm’s useful life (35 years) unless a plan is submitted to the Goodhue County Board of 
Commissioners outlining the steps and the schedule for repowering the system.  

 
Once initiated, decommissioning will occur within a period of sixty (60) days.  Removal of 
modules, inverters, wiring, electrical equipment, racking and foundations, fencing, 
underground wires and conduit and concrete pads will be removed and recycled or disposed 
of in a suitable manner.  After all equipment is removed, the Project site will be restored to a 
condition comparable to its pre‐construction use if the Project site will once again be used 
for agricultural.  If holes are created when infrastructure is removed, they will be back‐filled 
and covered with topsoil.   Unless requested otherwise, permanent access roads constructed 
on the Project will be removed.    

 
Future use may determine the decommissioning scope.  It may be advantageous to maintain 
roads, drainage features, and transmission facilities.  Therefore, the plan will be updated 
regularly as understanding of removal costs and the equipment’s residual value evolves over 
time.   

 
Please see attached the Decommissioning Scope.   
 
 
MAINTENANCE PLAN 
Sturgeon Garden LLC will have a long-term maintenance plan to ensure safety, reliable 
operation, and production of the system.  Monitoring and metering equipment installed on 
site will alert the maintenance team of any system issues.  Maintenance teams are required 
to have proper safety plans and equipment in place to perform all work.  Details of the plan 
are finalized at construction once final system design is complete.  The final plan for the site 
can be requested at any time after construction.  Maintenance of systems can be broadly 
defined in two buckets: 

 
Preventative Maintenance 
The following items are performed on a routine basis. 





Conditional Use Permit 
Sturgeon Garden LLC 

 

PID R 33.026.0600  Goodhue County 

 

Table 2 - List of Commonly Performed Operations and Maintenance Activities 
 

Item Activity 

Monitoring On-going tracking and verification of system performance, 
weather and equipment alerts. 

Grounds 
Keeping 

Manage all vegetation including mowing.  Maintain all vegetative 
screening.  

Solar Module 
Inspection 

Inspect for cracks and general damage.  Inspect for dirt, 
vegetation and other potential shading issues.  Perform 
electrical checks for proper performance characteristics.  
Cleaning will utilize only water from a sprinkler/hose head. 

Racking & 
Mounting 
Inspection 

Inspect for damage, corrosion and loose connections. 

Inverter 
Inspection & 
Maintenance 

Inspect for corrosion and general damage.  Confirm proper 
ventilation and environmental seals.  Inspect all electrical 
connections and wires coming into and out of the 
units.  Complete manufacturer recommended maintenance 
activities. 

DC Electrical 
Inspection 

Inspect DC runs from solar panels to inverters for 
damaged/loose wires and debris.   

AC Electrical 
Inspection 

Inspect AC runs from inverter to switchgear for damage/loose 
wires and debris. 

Switchgear 
Inspection 

Inspect switches for proper functionality.  Inspect connections 
for appropriate torque.  Inspect latches and environmental seals. 

Monitoring 
Inspection 

Inspect existing monitoring systems for functionality.  Complete 
manufacturer recommended maintenance activities.  

System Repair Perform all necessary work as determined by inspections. 

Warranty 
Administration 

Administer defective components and file warranty claims.   

 
 



   

STURGEON GARDEN LLC - DECOMMISSIONING PLAN 
 

A. Timeline 
The decommissioning will occur at the end of the photovoltaic system's useful life 
or when the system has not been in use for twelve (12) consecutive months. 
Decommissioning is estimated to take two to three weeks to complete and the 
decommissioning crew will ensure that all equipment is recycled or disposed of 
properly. 
 

B. Shutdown/Disconnection 
Shut down system at all disconnect points (disconnect switch within fence and 
disconnect at switch gear). 
NOTE: Per contract, utility has the ability to disconnect solar array from the utility's 
power grid for emergency purposes. 
 

C. Removal and Disposal of Site Components 
The removal and disposal details of the site components are found below. All removal 
and disposal of equipment shall meet the requirements of the Goodhue County's 
solid waste requirements. 
 

▪ Modules: Modules inspected for physical damage, tested for functionality, 
and removed from racking. Functioning modules packed and stored for 
reuse (functioning modules may produce power for another 25 years or 
more). Non-functioning modules packed and palletized and sent to the 
manufacturer or a third party for recycling. 

▪ Racking: Racking uninstalled, sorted, and sent to metal recycling facility. 

▪ Poles: Steel poles removed and sent to a recycling facility. Holes 
backfilled. 

▪ Wire: All wire sent to facility for proper disposal and recycling. 

▪ Conduit: Above-ground conduit disassembled onsite and sent to recycling 
facility. 

▪ Junction boxes, combiner boxes, external disconnect boxes, etc.: 
Sent to electronics recycler. 

▪ lnverter(s): Sent to manufacturer and/ or electronics recycler. 
Functioning parts can be reused. 

▪ Concrete pad(s): Sent to concrete recycler. 

▪ Fence: Sent to metal recycling facility. 

▪ Computers, monitors, hard drives, and other components: Sent to 



   

electronics recycler. Functioning parts can be reused. 

 

D.   Restoration/Reclamation of Site 
After all equipment is removed the site will be restored to its pre-installation 
status. Holes created by poles, concrete pads, and other equipment will be filled in 
with soil to existing conditions and seeded. This will include the re-vegetation of 
the sit e. 
 
 
AGREED and ACCEPTED, 
 
Sturgeon Garden LLC 
 
 
Date: 
 
 
By: 
 
 
Name: 
 
 
Title: 
 



















 
 

 

“To effectively promote the safety, health, and well-being of our residents” 
www.co.goodhue.mn.us 

Page 1 of 2 

Environmental Health | Land Surveying | GIS 
Telephone:  651.385.3223 

Fax:  651.385.3098 

Lisa M. Hanni, L.S. Director 
Building | Planning | Zoning  
Telephone: 651.385.3104 
Fax: 651.385.3106 

Goodhue County Land Use Management 
Goodhue County Government Center | 509 West Fifth Street | Red Wing, Minnesota 55066 

 County Surveyor / Recorder 

To:  Planning Advisory Commission 
From: Land Use Management  
Meeting Date: March 21, 2022 
Report date: March 11, 2022 
 
PUBLIC HEARING: “Gesme Second Addition” Preliminary and Final Plat Review 
Request, submitted by David Rapp (Authorized Agent/Surveyor) on behalf of Keith and Roger 
Gesme (owners), for Preliminary and Final Plat review of the proposed Gesme Second Addition Plat 
comprising approximately 547.67-acres.  
 
Application Information: 
Applicant: David Rapp (Authorized Agent/Surveyor) on behalf of Keith and Roger Gesme (owners)  
Address of zoning request: 28170 HWY 20 Cannon Falls, MN 55009 
Parcel(s): 28.006.0100, 28.006.2000, 28.005.0900, 28.125.0010, 28.005.1000, 28.005.1400, 
28.008.0400, and 28.008.0500 
Abbreviated Legal Description:  Part of the E ½ of Section 06 and Part of the W ½ of Section 05 and 
Part of the NW ¼ of Section 08 all in Township 112 Range 17 Cannon Falls Township. 
Zoning District: A3 (Urban Fringe District) 
Township: Cannon Falls Township considered the plat request at their March 9, 2022 meeting and 
approved the request without additional comment. The Applicants will need to return to the 
Township to obtain appropriate signatures upon final plat approval.  
 
Attachments and links: 
Application  
Site Map(s) 
Survey 
Goodhue County Zoning Ordinance (GCZO): 
http://www.co.goodhue.mn.us/DocumentCenter/View/2428  
 
Summary:  
David Rapp (Authorized Agent/Surveyor) has prepared a Preliminary and Final Plat of the “Gesme 
Second Addition” on behalf of Keith and Roger Gesme (owners) for consideration.  

According to the Goodhue County Subdivision Ordinance, any land subdivision which crosses 
section lines must be platted and any subdivision which dedicates any interests to the public such as 
easements or roads must be formally platted. The proposed “Gesme Second Addition” dedicates 
frontage to State Highway 20. The property is being platted to re-configure property lines for familial 
property holdings. No additional dwelling sites will be created due to the subdivision.  

The plat meets all requirements for access, parcel size, and setbacks. Lot 1 Block 2 will be less than 
35-acres in the A3 District. The Goodhue County Subdivision Ordinance Section 5 states: “Non-
contiguous land must be separate tax parcels”. The proposed lot is separated from the rest of the plat 
by Highway 20. Article 23 Section 5 of the Goodhue County Zoning Ordinance specifies: “There shall 
be a minimum lot size of 35-acres per principal building or use…” The proposed lot does not have 
structures and would not be considered an eligible building site for any structure in the future due to 
its proposed size.  
 

Staff Recommendation: 
LUM Staff recommends the Planning Advisory Commission  



“To effectively promote the safety, health, and well-being of our residents” 
www.co.goodhue.mn.us 

Page 2 of 2 

• adopt the staff report into the record;  
• accept the application, testimony, exhibits, and other evidence presented into the record; and 

 
Recommend that the County Board of Commissioners APPROVE the request submitted by David 
Rapp (Authorized Agent/Surveyor) on behalf of Keith and Roger Gesme (owner) for Preliminary and 
Final Plat approval of the proposed “Gesme Second Addition” Plat comprising approximately 547.67- 
acres. 











 
 

 

“To effectively promote the safety, health, and well-being of our residents” 
www.co.goodhue.mn.us 

Page 1 of 4 

Environmental Health | Land Surveying | GIS 
Telephone:  651.385.3223 

Fax:  651.385.3098 

Lisa M. Hanni, L.S. Director 
Building | Planning | Zoning  
Telephone: 651.385.3104 
Fax: 651.385.3106 

Goodhue County Land Use Management 
Goodhue County Government Center | 509 West Fifth Street | Red Wing, Minnesota 55066 

 County Surveyor / Recorder 

To:  Planning Advisory Commission 
From: Land Use Management  
Meeting Date: March 21, 2022 
Report date: March 11, 2022 
 
PUBLIC HEARING: Conservation Subdivision Plat – Hinrichs 
Request submitted by Laurie Hinrichs (owner) for Preliminary and Final Plat approval of 
the proposed “Hinrichs Subdivision” to rezone 40.0 acres and create a two-lot Conservation 
Subdivision District on the property currently zoned A-1 (Agriculture Protection District). 
 
Application Information: 
Applicant: Laurie Hinrichs (Owner) 
Address of zoning request: TBD 195th AVE Zumbrota, MN 55992 
Parcel: 39.008.2601 
Legal Description: Part of the E 1/2 of the SW ¼ of Section 08 TWP 109 Range 15 in Pine 
Island Township  
Zoning District: A1 (Agriculture Protection District)  
 
Attachments and links: 
Application and Plat 
Proposed Conservation Easement 
CS District (Article 35) 
MN Statute Chapter 84C 
Site Map(s) 
Goodhue County Zoning Ordinance (GCZO): 
http://www.co.goodhue.mn.us/DocumentCenter/View/2428  
 
Overview:  
The Applicant (Laurie Hinrichs) is requesting Preliminary and Final Plat approval for the proposed 
“Hinrichs Subdivision” as a Conservation Subdivision in Pine Island Township. The proposal is to 
plat 40.0-acres of land into a two-lot Conservation Subdivision to allow the property owner to 
establish two dwelling sites on the property. The property is located in section 08 of Pine Island 
Township which is zoned A1 (Agriculture Protection District) allowing a maximum of 4 dwellings in 
the section. The section currently has 16 dwellings therefore there is no density remaining to 
establish any more dwellings at this time.  

In 2017 Goodhue County amended the zoning ordinance adding language requiring requests for 
increased dwelling density to be pursued through the change of zone process and not through the 
variance process. The Conservation Subdivision (CS) District was approved by the County Board in 
August 2019 as a new option for increasing density in the rural areas with a focus on conservation 
and natural resource preservation. The CS District requires a potential Applicant to Plat the property 
in conformance with the Goodhue County Subdivision Controls Ordinance and place a minimum of 
50% of the total acreage under a permanent Conservation Easement conforming to Minnesota 
Statute Chapter 84C. The CS District is a separate zone that would replace the existing A1 zoning 
designation. The allowable building density within the Conservation Subdivision is determined 
through the review process (maximum of 6).  

It should be noted the dwelling density within a CS District does not count against the overall section 



“To effectively promote the safety, health, and well-being of our residents” 
www.co.goodhue.mn.us 

Page 2 of 4 

density for A1 or A2 districts. 

Project Summary: 
Property Information: 
 The subject property consists of a single 40.0-acre parcel. This acreage has been owned by the 

Applicant since 2019. 

 The parcel and all adjacent properties are zoned A1 (Agriculture Protection District). 
Surrounding land uses are a mix of undeveloped woodlands, row-crop agriculture, and medium-
density residential uses. 

 The property has slopes of approximately 3%-12%. There are no Blufflands (>30% slopes) 
identified on the parcel.  

Existing/Proposed Uses: 
 The Applicant proposes to plat the property into two lots with one outlot. Lot 1 Block 1 would 

contain 3.0-acres, Lot 2 Block 1 would contain 5.0-acres, and Outlot A would contain 
approximately 30.17-acres. The parcel comprises approximately 40-acres after accounting for the 
public dedication of 1.83-acres of Right-Of-Way easement along 195th AVE and 480th ST.  

The minimum lot size for lots served by an individual Subsurface Sewage Treatment System 
(SSTS) is 3 acres in the CS District. A minimum of 40 contiguous acres is required for a CS 
District. 

 Density for two additional primary dwelling sites would be created by the plat.  

No additional buildable lots (dwelling density) could be created in the future without being 
reviewed through the formal platting process. Additional buildable lots could not be created 
within the area dedicated as a Conservation Easement. 

The Applicant would need to obtain a Building Permit from the Goodhue County Building 
Permits Department before commencing construction of any structures. 

 The remainder of the property consists of actively farmed tilled acreage. The Applicant intends to 
continue using this acreage for row crop agriculture.   

Access/Traffic: 
 The property does not currently have driveway access off of 195th AVE or 480th ST. New driveway 

accesses would need to be established for the proposed dwellings onto 195th AVE. The Applicant 
will need to work with Pine Island Township to obtain any necessary approvals prior to 
establishing the new access drives.  

 No new public roadway is proposed within the plat. The plat dedicates the existing Township 
Right-of-Way easement to the public along 195th AVE and 480th ST.  

 195th AVE and 480th ST are aggregate surface roads. 480th ST connects to Highway 52 
approximately ¼ mile west of the property. 

 The proposed plat is not anticipated to generate traffic uncharacteristic to the area. Given the plat 
would create two additional development sites, the potential additional traffic volume is not 
anticipated to exceed the capacity of the existing road infrastructure or substantially impact 
existing traffic circulation or safety.  

Utilities: 
 The proposed dwellings would be served by individual well and septic systems upon 

development. There are no existing wells or septics on the property. 

Drainage/Landscaping: 
 Stormwater drainage is directed downslope to the east and south of the property, towards the 

ditches along the roadways.   

The Applicant is not proposing to change the existing site grades. Some grading of the property is 
anticipated as a result of the proposed future development of two dwellings, however, the limited 
scale of development is not likely to produce on-going erosion and sediment control issues off-
site provided construction Best Management Practices and erosion control devices are 



“To effectively promote the safety, health, and well-being of our residents” 
www.co.goodhue.mn.us 

Page 3 of 4 

implemented as necessary during the construction phase.  

 Goodhue County SWCD Water Planner Chad Hildebrand reviewed the proposal and offered the 
following comments: 

Where the proposed new subdivision is identified appear to be on the higher ground and not 
towards the lowland area. From reviewing the NWI and hydric soils, areas to the north outside 
of the subdivision was identified.  

Pine Island Township: 
 Pine Island Township considered the Conservation Subdivision proposal at their December 28, 

2021 meeting. The Township encouraged the Applicant to consider platting more than two 
buildable lots. The Township Clerk provided staff with a letter of approval for the proposed 
Conservation Subdivision.  

Open Space/Conservation Easement: 
 The CS District requires a minimum of 50% of the total acreage in the Conservation Subdivision 

to be designated as Open Space which shall identify a “conservation theme” that guides the 
location and use of the designated Open Space. 

 A permanent Conservation Easement, governed by Minnesota Statute 84C.01-84C.05 
encompassing the entirety of the Open Space is required to be recorded prior to or at the time of 
platting. 

 The Applicant has provided a Conservation Easement for PAC consideration. The easement 
encompasses 20.0-acres and identifies the promotion of an open environment, protection of 
water and air quality, and the protection of farmland to provide food safety and security as the 
“theme”. The easement states the protected property “…has significant natural, open space, and 
agricultural values (individually and collectively, “Conservation Values”), that protect natural 
resources, and maintain or enhance air or water quality.”  

Use of the designated conservation easement area for industrial, commercial, and residential 
uses or development is exclusively prohibited. The easement does provide for continued 
agricultural use of the Open Space consistent with the stated conservation values. The Applicant 
intends to continue using the Open Space for crop production. Improvements such as utility 
services and septic systems, roads, parking areas, paths, and trails or like improvements are 
permissible within the conserved area so long as they are installed consistent with the easement’s 
Conservation Values. 

The agreement also includes customary provisions for annual inspection access and rights of 
enforcement for any violations of the agreement by the easement holder (trustee) and appears 
generally in conformance with the requirements of the CS District Regulations and the 
requirements of Minnesota Statute 84C. 

LUM Staff Conservation Easement Comments: 
 LUM Staff has evaluated the Applicant’s proposed Conservation Subdivision plat in accordance 

with the associated performance standards and purpose and intent of the CS District. Staff agrees 
that the proposal to establish two additional dwellings on the property is both a reasonable use of 
the property and largely aligns with the purpose and intent of the CS District.  

The Applicant has worked with their attorney (Charles O. Richardson of Richardson & 
Richardson) to create a Minnesota Statute Chapter 501B Charitable Trust to hold the easement. 
The “Hinrichs Open Spaces Trust” is proposed to be the designated holder of the conservation 
easement. The “Trustee” has been designated as Alison Peters. The Trustee is an independent 
third party and is not the landowner nor will the Trustee have any ownership interest in either 
the Open Space (Outlot A) or the developable lots. A secondary Trustee has also been named, 
Cory Hinrichs who also does not have any ownership interest in the Open Space (Outlot A) or the 
developable lots. Charitable trusts are identified as qualified easement holders by MN Statute 
84C. 

 Staff conveyed concerns to Gary Hinrichs regarding the proposed conservation easement 
boundaries as the easement terminates at a location that is indistinguishable from the other 
tillable acreage on the property. Mr. Hinrichs noted that the conservation easement area has 



“To effectively promote the safety, health, and well-being of our residents” 
www.co.goodhue.mn.us 

Page 4 of 4 

been delineated to contain the minimum acreage required (20-acres) to facilitate any possible 
future uses of the land outside of the easement.  

 The proposed conservation easement agreement was provided to the Goodhue County Attorney’s 
Office (Stephen O’Keefe) for review and comment. Mr. O’Keefe did not see any legal issues with 
the documents as written.  

Staff Recommendation: 
LUM Staff recommends the Planning Advisory Commission  

• adopt the staff report into the record;  
• accept the application, testimony, exhibits, and other evidence presented into the record; and 

 

recommend the County Board of Commissioners APPROVE the request submitted by Laurie 
Hinrichs (Owner), for Preliminary and Final Plat approval of the proposed “Hinrichs Subdivision” to 
rezone 40.0 acres and create a two lot Conservation Subdivision District on property currently zoned 
A1 (Agricultural Protection District). 

Subject to the following condition: 

1. The change of zone shall not occur until the Conservation Easement and Plat have been 
recorded with the Goodhue County Recorder’s Office.  





 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CONSERVATION EASEMENT 
 
This is a CONSERVATION EASEMENT granted by LAURIE J. HINRICHS and GARY H. 
HINRICHS, husband and wife, (“Grantor”) to ALISON PETERS, as trustee of THE HINRICHS 
OPEN SPACES TRUST (“Grantee”). 
 

A. GRANTOR.  The Grantor, LAURIE J. HINRICHS, is the current owner of 
approximately 40 acres of real property (“Real Property”) located in Goodhue County, 
Minnesota whereby this conservation easement shall be granted on 20 acres of such Real 
Property (“Protected Property”). 
 

B. GRANTEE.  THE HINRICHS OPEN SPACES TRUST is a Minnesota Charitable trust 
created pursuant to Minnesota Statutes Chapter 501B for the purposes of holding this 
easement’s real property interests. 

 
C. REAL PROPERTY AND PROTECTED PROPERTY AREAS.   The Real Property’s 

legal description is Outlot A and Lots 1 and 2 Block 1 HINRICHS Subdivision, and 
Protected Property’s legal description is provided in the attached Exhibit A. 

 
D. PROTECTED PROPERTY DESCRIPTION AND PURPOSE.  The Protected Property 

consists of open fields and is currently used for agricultural purposes. 
 

The Protected Property is important as such promotes conservation and an open 
environment, and farmland to provide food safety and security. 
 

E. CONSERVATION VALUES.  The Protected Property, as outlined above, has significant 
natural, open space, and agricultural values (individually and collectively, “Conservation 
Values”), that protect natural resources, and maintain or enhance air or water quality.  
Additionally, the use of the property as farmland is to be used for production agricultural 
purposes. 

 
These Conservation Values are not likely to be significantly impaired by the continued 
use of the Protected Property as described above or as authorized in this Easement.  
Preservation and protection of these Conservation Values will provide significant benefit 
to the public.  Grantor and Grantee are committed to protecting and preserving the 



Conservation Values of the Protected Property in perpetuity for the benefit of this and 
future generations.  Accordingly, it is their intent to create and implement a conservation 
easement that is binding upon the current landowner and all future owners of the 
Protected Property. 
 

F. CONSERVATION POLICY AND INTENT.  Protection of the Conservation Values of 
the Protected Property is consistent with and will further governmental policies, including 
those established by the following: 

 
1. Minnesota Statutes Chapter 103A, which promotes protection of the state’s waters 

and their adjacent lands, and Section 103A.206 in particular, which recognizes the 
economic and environmental importance of maintaining and enhancing the soil and 
water resources of the state and the role of private lands in these conservation efforts, 
to among other reasons, preserve natural resources, protect water quality, preserve 
wildlife, and protect public lands and waters.  
 

2. Minnesota Statues Chapter 84C, which recognizes the importance of private 
conservation efforts by authorizing conservation easements for the protection of 
natural, scenic, or open space values of real property, assuring its availability for 
agriculture, forest, recreational or open space use, protecting natural resources and 
maintaining or enhancing air or water quality. 

 
3. Goodhue County has adopted a comprehensive and long-term land conservation 

vision and implementation programs and improve natural areas; productive farmland; 
shoreland along all rivers, streams, and undeveloped lakeshore; regional parks; and 
multi-purpose regional greenways throughout the County. 

 
4. Grantor and Grantee are committed to protecting and preserving the Conservation 

Values of the Protected Property in perpetuity for the benefit of this and future 
generations.  Accordingly, it is their intent to create and implement a conservation 
easement that is binding upon the current landowners and all future owners of the 
Protected Property. 

 
G. GRANT OF CONSERVATION EASEMENT.  Pursuant to the laws of the State of 

Minnesota, and in particular Minnesota Statutes Chapter 84C, and in consideration of the 
facts recited above and the mutual covenants contained herein, for $500 or less of 
consideration, the Grantor hereby conveys and warrants to the Grantee and its successors 
and assigns a perpetual conservation easement (“Easement”) over the Protected Property 
subject to building and zoning laws, federal, state, and local laws, and encumbrances, 
easement, or like of records, if any. 
 

H. EASEMENT PURPOSE.  It is the purpose of this Easement to ensure that the Protected 
Property will be retained forever substantially unchanged from its present condition as 
natural open space, to protect water quality and farmland, and to prevent any use that will 
significantly impair or interfere with the Conservation Values of the Protected Property.  



Grantor intends that this Easement will confine the use of the Protected Property to 
activities that are consistent with the purposes of this Easement. 

 
I. COVENANTS AND RESTRICTIONS.  All activities on or uses of the Protected 

Property must be consistent with the purpose of this Easement.  Agriculture or like uses 
are expressly permissible.  The following activities and uses are expressly prohibited: 

 
1. Prohibited Uses.  No industrial, commercial, residential use or developments are 

permitted.   
 

2. Building, Structures, and Improvements.  Utility services and septic systems, roads, 
parking areas, paths, and trails, or like improvements are permissible so long as such 
improvements are consistent with the Easement’s Conservation Values. 

 
J. GRANTOR’S RESERVED RIGHTS.  Grantor reserves for itself, its heirs, successors 

and assigns any and all rights to use the Protected Property for all purposes that are not 
expressly restricted or prohibited herein and are not inconsistent with this Easement’s 
Conservation Values. 
 

K. PUBLIC ACCESS.  Although the public benefits from this Easement through the 
preservation and protection of the Conservation Values of the Protected Property, nothing 
in this Easement gives the public a right to enter upon or use the Protected Property 
where no such right existed prior to the conveyance of this Easement. 

 
The Owner retains the right to permit any public use of the Protected Property consistent 
with the preservation and protection of the Conservation Values of the Protected 
Property. 
 

L. MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 
 
1. Easement Standards.  The Grantee is to maintain the Protected Property with the 

customary standards for open spaces in Minnesota and consistent with the 
Conservation values. 

 
2. Real Estate Taxes.  Grantor agrees to pay any and all real estate taxes due and 

payable for the Protected Property in the year 2022, for all prior years and thereafter 
so long as the Grantor is the fee owner of the Protected Property and will pay all 
assessments levied by competent authority on the Protected Property. 

 
3. Costs and Liabilities.  Grantor retains all responsibilities and shall bear all costs and 

liabilities of any kind related to the ownership, operation, upkeep, and maintenance of 
the Protected Property, including the maintenance of adequate comprehensive general 
liability insurance coverage.  Grantee shall have no duty or responsibility to manage 
or maintain the Protected Property.  If, however, the Protected Property is damaged 
by causes beyond Grantor’s control, such as changes caused by fire, flood, storm, 
infestations, natural deterioration, the acts of third parties legally authorized to act by 



recorded document or other legally established rights or the unauthorized wrongful 
acts of third persons, Grantor and Grantee will meet and seek to arrive at an equitable 
solution to restore the Protected Property.   

 
4. Grantee Access To Ensure Compliance.  Grantee shall have access to the Protected 

Property at least annually to ensure that Grantor is acting consistent with this 
easement’s terms. 

 
5. Grantee’s Enforcement Rights.  Grantee shall have all the rights at law or equity to 

enforce its property rights granted to it via this easement. 
 

6. Easement Runs With The Land.  This easement’s terms shall run with the land and be 
binding on Grantor’s and Grantee’s successors. 

 
(remainder of this page is left intentionally blank) 

 
  



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has caused this instrument to be duly executed this 
__________ day of _____________________, 2022. 
 
 
 
 
      ____________________________________ 
      Laurie Hinrichs 
 
 
      _____________________________________ 
      Gary Hinrichs 
 
 
 
 
 
 
State of Minnesota, County of Goodhue 
 
This instrument was acknowledged before me on __________________, 2022, by Laurie 
Hinrichs and Gary Hinrichs, husband and wife. 
 
 
  (Stamp)     
 
       _______________________________ 
       (signature of notarial officer) 
 
       Title (and Rank):  ________________ 
 
       My commission expires:  __________ 
 
 
 
 
THIS INSTRUMENT WAS DRAFTED BY: 
Charles O. Richardson 
Richardson & Richardson 
434 W. 4th Street, Suite 100 
Red Wing, MN  55066 
Phone:  651-388-4796 
Fax:  651-267-0325 
 











Goodhue County Zoning Ordinance Article 35  Amended June 2, 2020 

 

ARTICLE 35   CS, CONSERVATION SUBDIVISION     
DISTRICT 

SECTION 1. PURPOSE 
The Conservation Subdivision (CS) District is intended to provide a residential development 
option that supports the rural character and residential development goals of Goodhue County, 
while permanently preserving open space, agriculture, and natural resource areas, beyond 
planned future extension of urban services. 

Section 2.  PERMITTED USES 
All permitted uses are subject to zoning and building permits.  Permitted uses allowed in the CS 
Zoning District shall be as shown in Article 20, Section 7, “Table of Uses”. 

Section 3.  CONDITIONAL USES AND INTERIM USES 
All conditional uses and interim uses are subject to zoning and building permits.  Conditional 
and interim uses allowed in the CS Zoning District shall be as shown in Article 20, Section 7, 
“Table of Uses.” 

Section 4.  ACCESSORY STRUCTURES AND USES 
Accessory buildings in the CS district may be permitted when located on the same parcel as the 
principal building and shall comply with the following standards: 

Subd. 1. No accessory buildings shall be permitted on a parcel prior to the establishment of 
the principal building. 

Subd. 2. Detached accessory buildings shall be limited in size to 7,200 square feet in area. 

Subd. 3. Greenhouses, conservatories, swimming pools, tennis courts or similar non-
commercial recreational facilities for the private enjoyment and convenience of the 
residents of the principal use and their guests shall be allowed. 

Subd. 4. Livestock shall be permissible as an accessory use provided no parcel exceeds 9 
Animal Units. 

Subd. 5. Any temporary buildings for uses incidental to construction work, which shall be 
removed upon completion or abandonment of such construction work. 

Section 5.  DIMENSIONAL REQUIREMENTS 
Subd. 1 Minimum Subdivision Size.  The minimum area required for a Conservation 

Subdivision shall be 40 contiguous acres. 

Subd 2. Density.  The maximum density of Conservation Subdivisions without a shared 
SSTS shall be 4 dwellings.  The maximum density of Conservation Subdivisions 
with a shared SSTS shall be 6 dwellings.  



Goodhue County Zoning Ordinance Article 35  Amended June 2, 2020 

 

Subd. 3 Lot Size.  Any lot on which a single-family dwelling unit is to be erected shall 
contain a minimum of 3 acres of Buildable Area.  Lots with a shared SSTS shall be 
a minimum of 2 acres of Buildable Area. 

Subd. 4 Yard Requirements.  Every building shall meet the following Yard requirements: 

 A.   Front Yard. 

 1. There shall be a minimum setback of 40 feet from the right-of-way line 
of any public road or highway. 

 2.  There shall be a minimum setback of 25 feet from the right-of-way line 
any private road. 

B.   Side and Rear Yards.  Every building shall have a minimum setback of 40 
feet. 

C.  Buffer zones.  All dwellings and accessory structures shall have a minimum 
setback of 100 feet from surrounding agricultural uses. 

Subd. 5 Height Requirements.  Every building shall have a maximum height of 35 feet. 

Subd. 6 Open Space Requirements.  Conservation Subdivisions shall identify a 
conservation theme. Conservation themes may include, but are not limited to, 
forest, water quality, farmland, or view-shed preservation. The conservation 
theme shall guide the location and use of the designated Open Space. 

A.  A minimum of 50% of the total acreage in the Conservation Subdivision shall 
be designated as Open Space.  

B.  Where practical, designated Open Space shall be contiguous with adjacent 
agriculture, wildlife corridors, forestry, natural habitats, preserves, or trails. 

SECTION 6.    GENERAL DISTRICT REGULATIONS 
Subd. 1 A proposed Minnesota Statute 505 plat shall accompany all Conservation 

Subdivision change of zone requests and shall be considered part of the 
application. The plat must obtain the approval of the Township in which it is 
located in order to be recorded.  No buildings or development may occur on the 
site until the plat is recorded. 

Subd. 2 Open Space Ownership and Management.  All lands and improvements in 
designated Open Spaces shall be established, managed and maintained in 
accordance with the following: 

A.  Conservation Easement.  A permanent Conservation Easement that 
encompasses the entire Open Space area must be recorded prior to, or at the 
time of platting.  

B.  Conservation Easements shall be governed by Minnesota Statute 84C.01-
84C.05, and include: 

1.    The entity to maintain the designated Open Space; 

2.  The purposes of the Conservation Easement; 



Goodhue County Zoning Ordinance Article 35  Amended June 2, 2020 

 

3.  The legal description of the land within the easement; 

4.  The restrictions on the use of the land; 

5.  A restriction from future dwelling development of the easement; 

6.  The standards under which the Open Space will be maintained; and 

7.  Who will have access to the Open Space. 

C.  All structures located within the designated Open Space must obtain 
appropriate permits.  As part of the permit application, structures must 
demonstrate they are in harmony with the associated Open Space theme.  
Shared SSTS and shared wells within the Conservation Subdivision may be 
located within the Open Space designated parcels if allowed by the 
Conservation Easement restrictions. 

Subd. 3. Public Road Frontage or Road Access Easements Standards: 

A. Each Parcel shall include a minimum 33 feet of frontage on a public road right-
of-way line extending to the building line.  As an alternative, a single parcel that 
does not front on a public road may be permitted upon the recording (with the 
Goodhue County Recorder) of a driveway access easement that is a minimum of 
33 feet in width and has been determined to be acceptable by the Goodhue 
County Land Use Management Department.  

B. Access for two or more lots shall follow the Road Design Standards in the 
Goodhue County Subdivision Controls Ordinance.  



CHAPTER 84C

CONSERVATION EASEMENTS
DEFINITIONS.84C.01
CREATION, CONVEYANCE, ACCEPTANCE, AND
DURATION.

84C.02
JUDICIAL ACTIONS.84C.03

VALIDITY.84C.04

APPLICABILITY.84C.05

84C.01 DEFINITIONS.

As used in this chapter, unless the context otherwise requires:

(1) "Conservation easement" means a nonpossessory interest of a holder in real property imposing
limitations or affirmative obligations the purposes of which include retaining or protecting natural, scenic,
or open-space values of real property, assuring its availability for agricultural, forest, recreational, or
open-space use, protecting natural resources, maintaining or enhancing air or water quality, or preserving
the historical, architectural, archaeological, or cultural aspects of real property.

(2) "Holder" means:

(i) a governmental body empowered to hold an interest in real property under the laws of this state or
the United States; or

(ii) a charitable corporation, charitable association, or charitable trust, the purposes or powers of which
include retaining or protecting the natural, scenic, or open-space values of real property, assuring the
availability of real property for agricultural, forest, recreational, or open-space use, protecting natural
resources, maintaining or enhancing air or water quality, or preserving the historical, architectural,
archaeological, or cultural aspects of real property.

(3) "Third-party right of enforcement" means a right provided in a conservation easement to enforce
any of its terms granted to a governmental body, charitable corporation, charitable association, or charitable
trust, which, although eligible to be a holder, is not a holder.

History: 1985 c 232 s 1

84C.02 CREATION, CONVEYANCE, ACCEPTANCE, AND DURATION.

(a) Except as otherwise provided in this chapter, a conservation easement may be created, conveyed,
recorded, assigned, released, modified, terminated, or otherwise altered or affected in the same manner as
other easements.

(b) No right or duty in favor of or against a holder and no right in favor of a person having a third-party
right of enforcement arises under a conservation easement before its acceptance by the holder and a recordation
of the acceptance.

(c) Except as provided in section 84C.03, clause (b), a conservation easement is unlimited in duration
unless the instrument creating it otherwise provides.

(d) An interest in real property in existence at the time a conservation easement is created is not impaired
by it unless the owner of the interest is a party to the conservation easement or consents to it.

History: 1985 c 232 s 2

Copyright © 2019 by the Revisor of Statutes, State of Minnesota. All Rights Reserved.

84C.02MINNESOTA STATUTES 20191



84C.03 JUDICIAL ACTIONS.

(a) An action affecting a conservation easement may be brought by:

(1) an owner of an interest in the real property burdened by the easement;

(2) a holder of the easement;

(3) a person having a third-party right of enforcement; or

(4) a person authorized by other law.

(b) This chapter does not affect the power of a court to modify or terminate a conservation easement in
accordance with the principles of law and equity.

History: 1985 c 232 s 3

84C.04 VALIDITY.

A conservation easement is valid even though:

(1) it is not appurtenant to an interest in real property;

(2) it can be or has been assigned to another holder;

(3) it is not of a character that has been recognized traditionally at common law;

(4) it imposes a negative burden;

(5) it imposes affirmative obligations upon the owner of an interest in the burdened property or upon
the holder;

(6) the benefit does not touch or concern real property; or

(7) there is no privity of estate or of contract.

History: 1985 c 232 s 4

84C.05 APPLICABILITY.

(a) This chapter applies to any interest created after August 1, 1985, which complies with this chapter,
whether designated as a conservation easement or as a covenant, equitable servitude, restriction, easement,
or otherwise.

(b) This chapter applies to any interest created before August 1, 1985, if it would have been enforceable
had it been created after August 1, 1985, unless retroactive application contravenes the constitution or laws
of this state or the United States.

(c) This chapter does not invalidate any interest, whether designated as a conservation or preservation
easement or as a covenant, equitable servitude, restriction, easement, or otherwise, that is enforceable under
other law of this state.

History: 1985 c 232 s 5

Copyright © 2019 by the Revisor of Statutes, State of Minnesota. All Rights Reserved.

2MINNESOTA STATUTES 201984C.03


















